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Chapter I

Lee's Dream and Its Heallzatlon

Following the Var iletween the ltates snd ss the
Houth began to rebulld there came to Lexinston, Virginlas,
the leader of the Confederate casuse, Ceneral sobert E. lLee.
He came to assume the presidency of & little college ia
Lexington, known then as “sshington College. |

Lee hed refused more profitable offera and had
told his friends thaet he felt it hie duty to help in the
rebullding of the fouth, and he thought he should do that
by treining the young men of the South how they =ight best
#0 about the periocd of reconstruction,

As 8 part of his plen to teach the young men how to
rebulld he desired to see the establishment of four new
courses of study at Yashingbon College. These four courses
were law, comaerce, engineering end Jjournalism,

The new president of the college eould foresec the
advantages of training in Journelism, lle knew the influence
an edltor wields over hils followers, and Lee probebly saw
that through proper training of the future editors of the
South, the people might be better taught the needs and work
that sust be done. His unwillingness after the war to mect
reporters who might misconstrue an Iinterview shows that he
recognlied a lack of dependability in meny newspapermen of
the day.

S0, on lareh 30, 1869, in the fourth year of his

presidency of the college, Lee sent ths ollowing recomcen-
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dation to the trustees of "ashington College:

"1 beg leave to submlt for your consideration
several propositions from the faculty....Should they re-
celve your approbation necessary changes in the catalogue
of the present session will be made.

"The proposition recommending the institution of
50 scholarships for young men proposing to make printing
and Journalism their life work and profession....

"I will only add that all the foregoing subjects
have been maturely considered by the faculty and have re-
ceived their unanimous assent,

Respeeirully submitted,
(signed) Robert £. lLee
Pres, V. C,"

This recommendation, expressed in a memorandum,

sent to the trustees of the college, marked the first

mention of instruction in journelism at any college in the

world, and to General Lee must go the credit for its con-
ception.

The trustees decided to carry out General Lee's
recHomnendatlion, and their reply was:

"Resolved: that the board of trustees be requested
to authorize the faculty to appoint to scholsrships, to be
called scholarships, not exceeding 50 in number,
young men intending to make practical printing and journalism
thelr business in life, such scholarships to be free from
tuition and college fees on condition that, when required

by the faculty; they shall perform such disciplinary dutles




~3-u

as may be assigned them in & printing office or in other
positions in line of thelr profession for a time equel to
one hour each day.

"Resolved: that the trustees, in order to carry
out such provision make arrangements for or with a print-
ing office as may afford practia&i instruction to such men.,"

It must have been later decided to call the scholar-
ships mentioned above “Press Scholerships,” for they appear~
ed thus in the catalogue for 1869-70.

Thus, Fresident Lee's dream of instruction in jour-
nalisw at Washington College was seemingly on its way to
reallizatlon,

On August 19, 1869, a circular letter was sent out
announcing the scholarships and telling the terms. The
qualifications of an applicant for a scholarship included:
age over 15, and of unimpeachable cheracter. The men were
required to take the perseribed cultural courses and to
work one hour per day under an instructor in the line of
his profession. Typographiecal unions in the Southern states
were to nominate the candidates.

DeForest 0'0ell, in his "The History of Journalism
Education in the United ftates,” has this to sey concerning
the scholarships: y

“The 'press scholarships' were intended for printers
end their helpers., Apparently the sim was to train the print-
er to be ean editor, rsther than to quelify the prospective
editor in the art of printing. The plen was to buy §5,000
worth of advertling and pay for it in tuition and college



fees.,"

About the purchase of advertising, I have been un-
able to find nmuch in the way of sxplanation of the subject.
I would suppose that an editor who wished his apprentice to
receive the education offered by the college would grant
the college the use of 5,000 worth of advertising space in
his peper, the college to dispose of the space as 1t saw
fit, However, there may have been some other arrangement to
cover the costs of these scholarships.

There is no deflnite proof of these scholarships
ever heving been given to any students; however, one pro-

fessor of Journalism, R.B. Ellard, has said that he once

talked with an eldarir wan who averred he had been awarded
one of the scholarships. (This informestion found in the
correspondence files investigeted.)

The offlcials of the college went ahead with prepa-
retions for starting this new instruction in journslism
and in the summer ¥ 1869 selected the office of the Lez-

ington Gazette for a laboratory. The paper was owned by

"Wesser's Lalferty and Co.," to quote from the college re-
cords,

Major J. Lafferty, a former officer of the Confederate
Army and editor of the (azette, war officlally appolinted a
member of the faculty and designated "Superintendent of la-
struction in Typography and Stenography.” iccording to
Professor Ellard this could be’deacribeﬁ as what is now

known &s a teacher of mékeup,whgaéawriting and reporting.
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Notices of the instruction in journalism were given
in the catalogue for the College until 1878 when poverty and
the loss of President Lee halted the work., It is believed
that the scholarships were also abandoned at that time.

Like many another pioneer, lee was criticized for
his attempts to advance the fleld of journalism, strangely
enough by Journalists themselves. Frederick ludson of the

New York Hersld sald he 4id not see how the Jjournalism

school could be made serviceable, L. L. Godkin, editor of

the New York Evening Post, went so far as to say a special

class in Jjournalism at & college was an "absurdity.”
Few editors thought well of the policy of starting

a olass in Jjournalism. vhitelaw ieid of the New fork Tribune

sald, "Ve shall see the time when the strictly professional
education for Journalism is far better than it is now." lHe
added that the school should develop 2 valuable gsprit de

COrps.
Henry Wetterson of the Loulsville Courier-Journal

supported President Lee when he saild, "Such a school would
no more meke a Jjournalist than Vest Point makes a soldier.
But it would lay the needful foundations."™ “hat Mr, Veatter-
son said,as we shall see, developed later into the real pur-
pose of the school a&s it is today.

ir, Lafferty of the lLexington Gazette probably typi-

fied what Lee really thought when he gave the suggestion
that such a school of journalism should be started. The
editor of the Cazette sald, "He (Lee) was reorganizing the

demands of an age and yet not ignoring the traditions of the
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past, This is the first distinct recognition ever made by
the so-called Centers of Wisdom of the true dignity and
importance of the Press.” The editor added the school would
be the "coadjutor in public instruction.” And in diiferent
words, Lr. Lafferty told his paper's reader the school 1ift-~
ed journallsm from the ranks of trades and guilds and plac~-
ed it =mong the learned professions of the tiume.

At this time it should be brought to the reader's
attention that the papers of that dey were not so well
organized aor so well staffed as they sre today. Few papers
of the South had more than editor and perhaps one or two
helpers, “hue the editor was the printer slso, and that is
probably the reason why the selection of men for the presal
scholarships was left to the typographical unions, and that,
too, seems probably the reason for the amount of time which

had to be spent in the offices of the Lexington Gezette

each day. It was to aequaint the printer's apprentice with
his role as an edlitor, besides giving him & cultural back-
ground from his other college subjects whieh might meke him
& better molder of publie opinion.

The advent of the school stirred so much interest,
in both lorth snd South, that it was not long &rtet the news

had leaked out of Lexington that the New York “un sent a

reporter, & ir, Tweed, to see sbout the plans for the school.
¥r. Tweed Journeyed to Lexington and stayed several

days to check on the plans being made by the college for

the start of such a school of journalism. He was dnable tq

obtain an interview with President Lee, but he got c.e with
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8 Professor Johnson, & history teacher, who evidently was
Lee's spokesman for such interviews,

ir. Tweed in his interview with iir. Johnson asked
just what the idea of the school was, and the answer he re=-
ceived was that Washington College, through a class in
Journalism, offered to the newspapers of the country a
source for newspapermen "who could furnish information
accwrately, fairly, comprehensively, with thought pro-
voking illumination and interpretative organization.”

Er. Johnson, in answer to a guery in regard to the
press scholarships,saild, "Printing is one of the arts which

diffuse education gad we should therefore seek to qualiiy

printers for the task of educating as far as possitle. We
do not hope to make men rit for the editorial chalr gt once,
but we do hope to give them as thorough & training as poss-
ible in the ways of their profession and to give them as
gzood an education as possible that they mey meke better and
more cultivated editors.”

And so the first school of journalism was offered
to the wurld‘at Washington College, later to be known as
“agshington and Lee University. General Lee did not live to
see his dream of a class in Jjournalism die out in 1878.
rerheps Ceneral Lee's death was one of the reasons the school
did not continue such education. However, Washington College
had convinced other educators that such & school could poss-
ibly benefit the people. It was not until 1921 that the
establishment of a school of Jjournalism was agaln considered

at Laxington; and that time the school was to be & living
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memorial to the far-sightedness of Lee, the pioneer in the

education of men for journalism,
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Chapter II
The School-~-1921-1942

Following the abandoning of e school of journalism
in 1878, the thought of such a school as a part of Vashing-

ton and Lee was no longer considered until 1921,

In that yeer Dr. Henry Louls Swmith, then president
of the University, appeared before the national convention
of the Southern Hewspaper Publisher's Association, meeting
at Asheville, North Carolina, and suggested that as a living
memorial to General Hobert kK. Lee and the part he had play-
ed in the beginnings of education for journalism, the pub-
lisher's association might play an instrumental part in the
reestablishment of a school of journalism at Waéhington and
Lee,

The Asgociation accepted the idea and during their
meeting voted to foster the establishment of such a school.
A committee headed by liajor Powell Glass, of the Lynchburg
(Va,) Hews, and later by iajJor John 5. Cohen, of the Atlanta
(Ga,) Journal, was appointed to make plans for the endownment
of the school.

Also instrumental in the establishment of the plan
for the school were the United Daughters of the Confederacy
and Lir, Verbon . Kemp, alumni secretary of the University
and executive secretary of the committee formed by the
SeNaPuh.

All of the Bouthern state press assoclations had been

contacted individually before the Asheville meeting end they
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had been requested to pass a recomumendation to let the
S.N.P.,A. start the memorial and to let the 5.N.P.A. be
the steering committee.

A resolution which the state press asssoclations
were requested to pass was:

*Whereas the United Confederate Veterans, as their
tribute to their Great Commander, have undertaken to end&h
and furnish with a building Cenersl Lee's School of Ingl-
neering, and

"hereas General lLee, a generation ahead of his
times had the foresight and wisdom to recognize the place
of the editor in modern civilization, and established in
1869 the first school of journalism in America, which was
discontinued eight years after his death for leeck of funde:

"And wneress, it is proposed to reestablish and
endow the Lee iemorial School of Journalism as the tribute
of the editors of the South to the Founder of Journalism as
a learned profession,

"Be it resoclved;

#l« That the Press Assoclation heartily en-
dorses the above movement, approves the plan of sccomplish-
ing this result by & simultaneous editoriesl appeal for popu=~
lar subseriptions, and welecomes this opportunity to foous
the gnze Qf the whole Jouth upon the matechless character and
serviece of her ideal hero.

"2~ That it hereby requests the Zouthern lewspaper
Publishers' Association to sassume the management of this
patriotic enterprise, and promlses the asctive and energetic

suprort of the Press Association.”
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The S.N.P.A, represents papers in Alabama, Arkansas,
“lorida, Georgia, Kentuecky, fouisiana, Mississippi, North
Carolina, Oklahoma, South Carclina, Tennessee, Texas, Virginia,
and Vest Virginia. It may be presumed that the above proposed
reconmendation was passed in all those states where press
associations were esteblished, and thus when the Asheville
meeting was held in 1921 the publishers were of & unlited
mind to establish the school.

Again in 1922, President Smith eppeared before the
annual meeting of the 8,%N.P,A, to discuss the estsblishment
of the school of journalism at Wsshington and lee. He urged
the menbers to plen = time for all the newspapers of the
“outh to conduet 2 simultaneous campaign among their readers,
that publiec donatlions might be received in suflicient amount
to endow the school. Zach member of the Association was also
urzed to make a contribution to the fund. President Smith
offered the services of the University in conducting the
campaizn and said he would lend any member of his staff to
ald the Associstlion's mambefs during the campaign.

Following President Smith's telk the Sssoclation
pagsed the following resolution:

"1, That the Southern Newspaper Fublishers' Lssocia-
tion reaffirms its determination to re-establish, endow and
eaqulp the Lee lMemorial School of Journalism as the tribute
of Southern newspapermen to the founder of Jjournalism as
one of the learned professions.

"2, That the Yresident of the S.N.P.A, eppoint a
speclal committee of three members, located near together,

who shall, in consultation with the president of the Unlver-

P



sity, devise and put into operation some well-devised plan
for carrying this enterprise to successful completion,

"3. That we urge every meaber of the S.H.F.A. to
meke arrangements, at some sultable time, to conduct a short
campalzn for public subseriptions for the Lee lemorial School
of Journalism,.,”

After this resolution had been passed by the meeting,
Major I, B, Stahlman suggested that the Assoclation ought to
start with a subseription from the various papers who were
meanbers of the Assoclation., The following subseriptions were
made during the session:

Major E, B. StahlmBnsecessvrsoncnssssascsesl, 000,

Colonel Robert Ewlngeeesncsnsccosessrsese 1,000,

M, By, FOBLBLuvnvvsnevsscsnsssvansannsss 1,000,

0o Dy GOYAiscansssonsionsssiisnnnseisnns 100,

Krs, We W, Barkedalesssecssevossscvconss 100,

Loxington (Ky.) Hereldusesseasssncecnsns 100.

Agheville (N.C,) CiltizeNuessevseccscsess 300,

It seems to have been the plan of the Assoelstion,
although not found in the minutes of its meeting until the
annual convention in July, 1923, that 50,000 of the endow-
ment fund wes to be raised by contributions from the members.
At the meeting inm 1923 4ajor Cohen announced that members
of the Association had subscribed $37,000, and requested
them to complete the/propesad 450,000 fund before the con=-
vention adjourned. As a result of contridbutions from the
menbers and from certain visitos at the comvention, the

$50,000 fund was oversubseribed by 1,510,
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Following 1s a list of the esmounts pledged. The

total of the publishers' subseriptions was §45,760.

ALABANA-=~33,750,

Anniston St&r...ﬁo-..@ 150
Biruingham /Age-llerald 1,000
Birmingham NewS.ssess 1,500
¥lorence NewSseessons 100
Gadsden Journal.sseso. 100
Gadsden Times=-News,.. 300
HuntBV1lle NGWB...... 150
Selma Tim&a..-.-.»;.. 150
Albany-lecatur Daily. 150
F,H.Miller, Hont-

gomery...........--n» 150

ARKANSAS--11,100.

Helena MO?ld.........@ 100
Little Hoek Demoerat, 1,000

FLORIDA-=-1,710,

Deytons NewS..eeseeesdh 150
slami Metrapcliﬂnaeoa 506
Orlando Sentinel.eeas. 150
Orlando Heporter-Star 300
Palatke NeWS.eseessss 60
We.Palm Eeach Post.... 250
W.F.St0ovall, Tampa
Tribuna...”'OOOOOQQO }-00
C.G.Mullen, personal,
T&mpa..-...-.......-. 100
Paul Pynter, ot.
Petersburgesresioves 100

ﬁIﬁSIﬁsxPPI*°$l,h50.

Gulfport Heraldssseasy 150
Jackson Clarion-

L&dger.;go...--..;-.. 100
Laurel leader.cescses 200
meridiaﬂ SOATssrersas hso
flattiesburg Amerilcan, 250
Vickaurg ?Ost.-..».o 150
Vicksburg Heraldeesse 150

TENNESSEl~=123,975.

Clarksville Chronicle; 100
J&Ckson Elllessnonvass 250
Johnson City Staff... 200
Johnson City

Chranicle‘v.l.ﬁ.l..ll 300

GEORGIA-=55,500.,

Atlenta Constitutioni 1,500
Atlanta Georgien.... 1,000
Atlante Journal..... 1,500
John C. Cohen, per-

BONBLlesssessscsssens 500
ktugusta Chronicle..., 500
flbany Heraldesesses 200
Columbus Ledgereceee 300
Rome Tribune-Herald. 100
Rome NeWSeessssesnve 150
Jack "illiams, Way-

erosa.‘.t.‘...tu.‘.‘ 50

EENTUCKY==$1,900,

Lexington Herald,.... 750
Louisville Courier-

JQurn&l-00gaoooooo-a 19000
Owensboro liessenger. 100
Hopkinsville HNew Lra 50

LOUISIANA-~35,500.

Alexandria Town Talk: 250
Baton fHouge State-

Limﬁﬁ-ntvucotatogaot 150
Lake ‘harles /meri-

eﬂn“PrGSSoocota.onon 150
Honroe Hews-otar,e.s 150
New Orleans Stetes.. 1,500
New Yrleans Times-

Ficayune............ 1.500
New Orleans +tem.... 1,000
Shreveport Journal.. 300

WEST VIRGINIA--21,100.

Charleston Gazette.., 500
Haleigh Register,
Bﬁckley-toucooqanopg 100
Huntington Advertis-
Elessacssccsssesnnsne 500

Asheville Citizen..., 300
tsheville TimeSesass 300
Charlotte Observer.. 500
Charlotte HewWSseeeen 50



TENNESSEE (con't,) NORTH CAROLINA (con't.)
Knoxville Sentinel...§ 500 Conecord Tribune.....§ 100
Neshville Banner.eees 1,500 Gastonlea Gazette.... 100
“ashville Tennessean, 1,000 Henderson Dispatch.. 100
WeCsdohnson, Chatta=~ High Point Enter-
nnogaOOCOOOOCQOOQC.D. 125 prisenoocttoo-o-ooco 100

Hickory Recordeceses 100
SOUTH CAROLINA‘“®2’7000 Kington NQWE.OQ..Q.. 100
Kinston Free +ress.. 150
Anderson Tribune.....; 100 Roeky Mount Telegram 100
Columbia State.sssess 1,000 Raleigh News and
Columbia Recordecessse 500 ObserTer............ 1,000
Charleston News- Salisbury Postiesees 100
Couriericsccrscsssscsee 300 Wilson TimeS.vvesvee 100
Florence TimesS.seseees 100 Wilmington Star.eese 300
Greenville Piedmont.. 300 Winston-Salem Senti-
Greenwood Index‘ BOLlyssnvnnosoncnvannn “00
Journalcﬁctsooonﬂoooo 100
Sumter Itemisevceness 100 TEXAS"@S.lOO.
Spartanburg Herald... 150
Union Timeaa......... 50 Austin ctatesmaneees 300
Abilene Reporter.... 100
VIRGINIA--37,775. Brownsville Herald.. 100
. Brenham Banner Press 100
Alexandria Gazette...; 200 Corsicana SulNesesses 150
Charlottesville Pro- Denton Record-
gress"'.l....'....’. 150 Chraniole.‘O.'....lt 100
Clifton Forge Review. 75 Fort 'orth Stap-'
Lynchburg NewS.seseseo 1,500 Telegramsscossssssss 1,000
Newport News Iress... 250 Gainesville Register 100
Norfolk Ledger Dis- Galveston Tribune... 400
pateh.--.o.c......... 1,000 - Houston Chronic¢le... 1,000
koanoke Times~vorld.. 1,500 Houston Postieeseses 1,000
itichmond News-ILeader. 1,500 Marshall liessenger.. 100
Richmond Times~Dis- Temple Telegram.sss. 150
PRLOR. cussvsvesnsnnss 14,500 Texarkana Pour State
Staunton leadereeceee 100 PresBessscsssossnencs 150

Waeco Times-Herald... 300
Pﬂlestine Herald.... 100

Outside subseriptions in 1923 totaling $5,750 were:

National Publishers Assoclation..ssseessiy 500
kditor and Publisher..asssccceascscs-ases 200
. W Bott, New Orle@N8.eecsssscccosssnse 100
Intertype CorporatioN.sssssssssasccssnns 500
G. R. KatZOQODQO..O..OCO."C...OQOIQQIOO 1.000
Hudson Tradine COmMPaNYecesssssosssccsssns 200
international Pressmen's UnioN.seessssee 1,000
International Peper COmMPeNY.esessssssess 1,000
Fourth Estate (J. H. Lindsay)ecesoseescs 100
lergenthaler Linotype Company.eecssssssese 1,000
V. E. Kemp, Lexington, Virginia..-..o.-. 150
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Sometime during the following year campalgns were
held in the cities where member papers of the Associ&tion
were circulated, calling on the readers to contribute to
the endowment fund, Editorials and feature articles were
the main means whereby attention was attracted to the fund
and its purpose.

In 1924, st the snnual Association convention, Major
Cohen announced a total of ;70,030 had been subsecribed. Of
the amount 54,585 was from £,N.P.A, members and $15,445
from outside sources. The total number of donors was 624,
of which 128 were members of the Association. The committee
announced they planned to continue their publiec cempeaign
throughout the ensuing year. Although only approximately
one-half of the /issociation's members had subscribed to
the fund it was announced that the success of the school
was guaranteed as a result of the lerge amount subscribed.

In July, 1925, the committee in charge of the Lee
lemorial Journslism School Fund announced that thelr came-
peign had been a success, and that the following ‘eptember
the school would formelly open. The announcement added that
Professor Roscoe B, Ellard had been elected to take charge
of the new school.,

lir. Kemp ennounced that §37,442,87 of 80,082,38
Dledged had been paid. Of these amounts, ©10,500 was sub-
seribed and paid by Mrs. 8. W. Richardson of Greensboro,
North Carolina, this money to be used for the employment of
& full-time professor of journalism for at least three years.

In Oectober, 1925, the 5,.N.P.A. bulletin announced



the appointment of the committee of the Lee ilemorial Sechool
of Journalism as follows: iHajor John $. Cohen, Atlanta (Ca.)
Journal, chairman; liajor Powell Glass, Lynchburg (Va.) News;

and Colonel H, L, Ople, Staunton (Va.) News-lLeader,

The bulletin announced that under Yrofessor Illard
the school had opened on September 18, 1925, and a building
facing the campus had been remodeled to house it. The build-
inz was what was then known as the "Alumni Building,"™ end
housed the offices of the University slumnil secretary es
well as the journalism school, It has since been torn dowa,
and today the Student Union bullding of the University stands
on the property it formerly occupled.

The bulletin further announced that the room allotted
to the journalism school had been made up in newspaper plant
style to create a newsroom, copy room, library and morgue.
Vith the opening of the school 1t was anncunced that special
attention would be given to small daily and weekly newspapers.

In July, 1926, the report on the progress of the
school during the rirst yesr was mede at the $,N.P./. annual
convention, It was announced that 47,760,928 of the {80,200
subscribed to the endowment fund had been paild.

Thare were also several donations of equipment dur-
ing the first year. Some of these are listed under Chapter
VI on the Journalism Taboratory Press; however, others were:

2 Reading taebles, 1 copy desk, 7 Underwood typewriters,

and 5 study desks, donated by krs. L. E. Richardson.

3 Corona typewriters, donated by the Corona Typewriter

Company.
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12 volume set "/merica,"” donated by John S. Cohen.
85 volumes journalism reference books, donsted by
Or., James llelville Lee.

1 fremed photograph of Henry Vatterson, 2 volume
set "larse Henry," donated by lirs, Henry Vatter-
son.

1 volume Henry ‘atterson edlitorials, donated by
Henry Kroek, New York,

It was announced that 61 students had enrolled in
the school during the first year of its exlistence. During
the year an editorial column was conducted for two days by

the students in the Hoanoke (Va,) Vorld-Yews and all town

and county reporting cf the Lexington (Va,) Cazette had been
done by the students for a period of 90 days.

The entire class in reporting attended the convention
of the VWorld Press Congress at Washington, D.C., by special
invitation that year. The bulletin also announced the first
convention of the Southern Interscholastic Press Association.

See Chapter VII.)

In July, 1927, at the annual convention the committee
reported donations of equipment ss follows:

1 Tont 60 point Gothic headline type, donated by the

Roanoke Timeg-lorld Corporation.

1 logotype for "The Lee Journal” donated by the same
corporation,

Addicional volumes for the library donated by Dr.
James Melville:lee.

A year's supply of copy paper donated by the Staunton

f 1

Leader Publishing Company.

b
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An assistent professor, Howard . Thompson, was
provided for the school by Weshington and Lee University
during the second year. Seventy students were enrolled in
the school, and it gradusted its first journalism majors in
June, 1927.

During the second yesr the classes did town and
county reporting for the loecel pepers agasin for a period
of 90 days. 4As a leboratory study the clesses were taken

on & tour of the loanoke Times~liorld Corporation plant,

In the fall of 1927 the school moved its location
to the main group of bulldings housing the University, There
they hed a "well-equipped 'eity room' serving es a laboratory,
one of the few seperate journalism lidbraries of the South,
stones and forms for practicel work in page maskeup snd two
full-time professors of Journalism of professional renk and
four student assistants,"™ according to the report given at
the 1928 convention of S,.N.P,A,

In 1929, MNajor Cohen, chairman of the committee in
charge of the Lee lemoriesl School of Journalism, reported
to the &.97,P,A, thet at the end of four years the school
showed "sieady progress,™

During the school year 1928-29, the enrollment of
the journslism school was 116---the largest in its four years.
Frofessor Lllard, director of the school, reported thot with
the exception of two men teking graduste work all students
Who hed majored in journalism at Washington and Lee had
found employment in newspaner plants. The field trips of the
8chool were continued that yeer, the class in reporting tek-

ing two trips to Koanoke where they worked as reporters for

”



the Roanoke orld-lews, and it was announced that errange-

ments had been msde to continue this work,

In April of that yesr & staff correspondence trip
wae teken to “harleston, South Carolina, mnd news and feeture
articles were written for the Charleston papers, as well as
for elghteen other dailies in the South,

Probably of most note in the report given in 1929
was the announcenment of the plan to fulfill lee's plan for
journalism at Yeshington and Lee by the establishment of a
printing plant there. £ committee consisting of Vietor H,
Hanson, Birminghem (Ala,) ﬁgﬁgg Major L. B. Stahlman, Nashe

ville (Yenn.) Banner; Major Powell Glass, Lynehburg (Va.)

News; Colonel ¥, L, Cple, itaunton (Va.) News-Leader; and

W, B, Thomas, Hoancke (Va.) World-llews, was formed to plan
the establishment.

The committee secured 1,500 in money and equipment
valued at {4,600 in donations. This was in addition to
equipment velued at 5,000 donated by the ilergentheler
Linotype Co., which three years before had promised delivery
when the rest of the equipment had been secured.

At the end of five years the school had merde definite
progress. It had by that time two full-time professors and
two teaching assistants., It had also been given an "A" rating
by the American Associstion of Schools and Depertments of
Journalism, in December, 1929.

During 1929-30 the sehool occupied four completely
equipped rooms and vossesnsed the most complete journalism
librery in the South. There were 88 students enrolled in the

8chool, and its alumni were working in every Southern state

~



except one.
Juring the year 1929-30 the students took & field
trip to Philadelphin, where they worked on tHe Fhiledelphia

Bulletin and fhiladelphie EZveninz lLedger. They also took an
inspection trip through the N, W. Ayer Advertising 4gency.

in 1931-32 the students took thelr spring field trip
to washington, D.,C., inspecting and working on papers there.
puring this year the entire curriculum of the school was re-
arranged, with more background eourses in the cultural sub-
jeets reouired.

In the fall of 1933 the journaliem school issued a
monograph, "Be Cereful wWhat You frint,” written by frofessor
ugpel, then director of the school. Dealing with faults in
the existing/libel laws in Virginia, it formed the besis of
new libel laws presented to the following Virginia General
Lgsenbly.

in the school year 1934-35 the eurriculum was again
changed, especially with the view of weedingz out those
students who were applicants for the Journalism Certificate
but were not professionally inelined as shown by extensive
tests, During the year, the class in Copy heading snd lakeup
was given the opportunity to use copy as recelved over an
Associated iress teletype; the copy being mailed to the
school through the eourtesy of the A.”., and the Hoanoke Times.

~flso during the yesr the students in Advanced He-
Porting helped put out editions of the Homnoke (Va.) Lorld-

News and the Staunton (Va.} Evening-leeder. During the spring

field trip they assisted the staffs of the New York City papers




and of the press assoclations located there.

The following year the school was again offered the
opportunity of using the issocliated ress wire copy, and
eix of the advanced students &ent to Hew York to work in
collaboration with the staffs of the dailies and press
assocliations. The trip was made possible through the cooper-
ation of the United ‘ress, the international Yews iervice,

the llew York Herald-i‘ribune, the lew Iork lorld Telegram,

the New York iimes, the “ew York ivenins-Journal and Lditor

and fublisher.
Luring the summer of 1936 the entire group of main
pbuildings of the VYniversity was remodeled, and the Journalism
school had the faclllties of two modernly equipped class
rooms and two private offices for the professors when the
school opened in Ueptember, 1936. The Journalism Laboratory
Yress was also moved at this time to & separate bullding.
One of the class rooms also houses the library of the school,
where bes;éea books on journalism ere found the leading news-
pepers of the section, and many reference books and magezines
of interest to journalists.

(The school, beginning in 1937, was officlally referred
to as the "Lee lemorial Journalism Foundation” and hereafter
will be referred to as such,)

During the school year 1936-37 the Foundation began
to lesse the use of the Associated Press wire facilities
during the second semester for the use of the students of
the Copy Hemding and lakeup class in their laboratory work,
This system hes been followed sinee then, and the journalism

Students receive a great deal of bemefit from seeing just how



the news comes to the newspaner offices from wire services.
Laech year many other students of the University besides
those of the Foundation come into the journslism rooms to
resd the news =sg it 1s transmitted by the teletype.

In 1937-38 the rooms were again greatly improved
through the sddition of new chairs and tables to the library.
A magazine rack was also sdded at thils time. The Camera Club
was organized under the susplieces of the Jjournalisn Foundation
during this year, (See Chapter VIII)

In the year 1938«39 the enrollment for the Foundation
reached a new high for the second semester: 125. The usual
plan of study in the idvanced Heporting class, ineluding the
editing of actual newspapers, was followed when the class
put out pepers in Covington and Clifton Forge, Virginia,

Again in 1939-40 the Foundation’é attendance in-
creased, this time to 127. Fileld trips included the editing

of the weekly Rockbridee County Hews of Lexington, eand a trip

by the photography class through the engreving plent of the

Roenoke World-News, Durinz the year a2 displsy of the out-

standing news and festure pictures as cerried in newspapers
2ll over the United States was presented in the journalism
rooms,

In 1940-41 an innovation was begun at the end of the
year in obtaining summer "internships® for juniors who wished
actual newspaper experience. Professor 0.%., Riegel, as director
°f the Foundation, was able to obtain five of these internships,
Placing all men who had signified their interest in oue, Dur-

ing the year field trips were again taken to the ockbridge

founty News in Lexington and the Advanced Reporting olass
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edited an issue of the “aynesboro (Va.) Hews-Virginian.

Other features snd artleles written by them during the year
were also published in many pavers of the state, as well as
news photos taken by the photography class.

Although the 1941-42 session of the Foundation is
not completed as this is written, it continues to gain recog-
nition through the work of 1lts students, graduates and
faculty. The seniors in the Advanced Heporting class pub-

lished one issue of the Staunton (Va,) “vening-lLeader, and

have writien many articles which are used by the news bureau
of the University and the Alumni dagszine. During the second
semester the use of the Tacllities of the leased radio press
wire of the United Press was made avallable by the donation
of & friend of the Foundation.

This chapter has attempted to include the progress
of the Foundation, since the S.N.,P.A. convention of 1921 to
the present time., rurposely to omit repetition I have not
considered faculty changes, course revisions, the history of
the Journalisu Laboretory ifress or the “outhern 4nterscholastie

Press dAssociation, as well &s many other pheses, which may

better be dealt with 1n subsequent chapters.




Chapter III
The Faculty

The members of the faculty of the lLee ¥emorial
Journalism Foundation naturally have played a large pert
in its growth and history. Unfortunstely there are no com-
plete records to show all that these men did to increase
the prestige of the Foundation while they were connected
with it. However, some of the more important events can be
found in previous end subsequent chapters, and 1t may be
assumed that those men who were on the faculty when the
various changes or events occurred were partially or wholly
respongible for them,

¥r, Hoseoe B, Ellard, as first director, had much
to do with the growth during the early, formative years that
he was in charge. Coming to Washington and lLee in 1925 as
the first professor of the Lee Memorial Yournslism Founda-
tion, he remained here five years, and many of the innova-
tions which are now standerd activities sre credited to
his directorship.

Before coming to lLexington lr, Ellard was the director
of the department of jJournalism at Beloit College, Beloit,
Wiséonsin. He received his A.B., B.J., and M.i., degrees from
the University of Missouri, obtaining the first degree in
1917. He was then connected with various newspapers before
teking up the teacﬁing profession and coming to the University.

While here he was the one largely responsible for the
treation of the Journalism Laboratory fress, started in 1929

from donations of eguipment and money whieh were obtained

rd
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through Mr., Ellard's leadership. He was the first president
of the Laboratory which was orgenized in 1930 under the
corporate title of the Virginian Yublishing Company, In-
corporated., Following his resignstion from the Washington
and Lee faculty in 1930, he took a position as journalism
professor at dissouri Yniversity, where he remained until
1941, He was 2 viasiting professor of jJournalism at the
Pulitizer Greduate School, Columbia University, in 1940; and
was appointed to a full-time professorship at that university
in 1941.

Mr. Howard M, Thompson was the first instructor in
journalism at Vashington and Lee, coming to the campus in
1926 when the growth of the ‘oundation required the work of

iR

another men besides that of Professor L£llard. ¥r. Thompson

had recelved his A.,B, degree at Beloit College, and had been
an assistant professor of Journslism at that college under
Professor Lllard, before coming to Yashington and Lee. He had
also received several years of experlence on newspapers, work-
1ng’b0th in reportorial and advertising capacities. He resign-
ed in 1928 to continue his work 1# the nawapapar‘field.

Mr. william L, Kapel, e man of considerable newspaper
experience and holding & B.J. degree from the University of
kissouri, which he had received in 1925, was appointed to the
Journalism staff in 1928. "ollowing Yrofessor Ellard's re-
signetion in 1930, Vr. Hapel became director of the Foundation.

Mr. George 4, Skinner also Joined the lfoundation staff
in 1928, He wes the rirst superintendent of the Journalism

Laboratory Fress, coming to the Foundation from Ginn and Co.

in Boston. ¥r. Skinner died here in 1932.
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lir. George T. Ashworth was an instructor in the
journalism Foundation in 1931-32, He obtained his i,A, de-
gree from the University during 1930-31, received his Ph.D,
from Georgetown University in 1934, &nd was with the history
department of the University of iaryland from 1932-34, iHe 1s
now in the United States Army,

In 1931 Professor lapel was grented a leave of absence
to serve for a year as an assistant editor of the American
Boy magezine, and during kr. “apel's leave of absence dr, O,
W, Hlegel served as director, In 1933 Professor “apel was
granted e summer trip abroed, financed by the Oberlander
Trust Fund., He resigned in 1934 to become executive editor

and director of the Wilmington (Del,) %“orning News and Lven=

ing Journal papers. It was under Yr, “apel's directorship

that the courses of study were chenged to the form which they
now approximete today.
during Professor kapel's leave of absence, iir. Kgrl

We Fischer was appointed to the feculty of the foundation.
HReceiving his B.5. degree in 1925 and his M.A. in 1931 from
indiana University, lir. Fischer had been connected with in-
diane newspapers and hed held the journalism professorship
at Baker University in 1929 and 1930, before coming to Wash-
ington and lLee. Following lr. Mapel's return in the fall of
1932, Mr. Fischer returned to +ndiana, to work on indianapolis
newspapers.

/mr. Douglas F. Doubleday was also appointed as an
instructor on the journalism staff for 1931-32, He had re-
ceived his 41,.B. degree from the University of ilichigen in

1928 and had hed previous newspaper experience on several
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newspapers and megazines., Following hils resignation, he took
up graduaste work at Columbia University, and at present is
in newspaper work at lalamazoo, “ichigan.

Professor ¢, W, Riegel has been director of the Foun-
dation sinee 1934, Mr. Riegel was appointed a member of the
faculty in 1930. He received his A.B, dezree in 1924 from
the University of %Wisconsin, end his M.,A. degree in 1930
from Columbia University. Between 1918 and 1929 he had been
connected with the staffs of such papers as the idenah (VWis.)
Daily News; Reeding (Penn.) Tribune; Lancester (Penn.) News
Journal; the Chicago Iribune; and the New York Daily News,

the latter in Paris, as & correspondent. He was an instructor
in literture et Dartmouth College in 1927-2G. /A trustee and
treasurer of Sclence vervice, & member of the Council on Re-
search in Journalism and an suthor and widely-known authority
in the field of propaganda and publie opinion, lr. iiegel is
held in high regard not only by his students but by his asso-
ciates in the filelds of education and journalism. At this
writing he is on leave of absence serving on the Donovan
"Coordinator of Information” Comuittee, propegenda agency of
the federal government, having been called to work in that
ageney in January, 1942, He is the author of two books,
"liobilizing for Chaos" and "Crown of Clory," besides many naga-
zine and feature erticles, His work as director of the Founda=-
tlon has greatly increased its prestige and influence among
Dewspapermen all over the country.

Appointed as journalism instructor and as superinten-
dent of the Journalism Laboratory vYress in 1932, kr. C. Harold

Laueck has sgince comingz to Washington and lLee greatly contribut-

e
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ed to the work of the Foundation., He received his A.B. de-
gree from loanoke College in 191%, and attended Washington
University in St, Louls in 1921, Imployed in varlous commer=
ciel printing plants throughout the country from 1910-1925,
he was composing room foremen of the J, !'. Bell Company of
Lynchburg, Virginia from 1925-28, and was superintendent of
the Shenadoah ublishing House of Strasburg, Virginia from
1928-32,

With his many years of experience as e printer, lr,
“auck has brought world-wide recognition to the Journslism
Lgboratory l'ress through the numerous publiecations and limit-
ed editions which he has designed and the printing of which
he has supervised st the Laboratery fress, He is a past presie
dent of the National Uraphic Arts “£ducation Association and
a member of numerous graphic arts and bibliographicel organi-
zations, He was & member of the general committee to organize
the National Craphic Arts Education iAssociation, and since
its establishment in 1935 has held the offices of : secretary
(1936-37), treasurer (1937-38), vice-president (1938-39) and
president (1939-40). He is now a meuber of the board of
directors of that orgenization, and holds the distinction of
being the only man in the Association having held all four
of the above listed positions.

e has served as director for the state of Virginis,
since 1935, in eha;ge of aetivities for "Printing Ecucation
‘eek,” now sponsored by the fAssociation. He has also de-
signed and published the annual Yearbook, and six Xeepsakes
Tor the Association, which have 2ll been produced at the

Laboratory Press, which in themselves tring much sttention

e
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to the FPoundstion.

lr, Lauck was the administrative manager of industries
A=2 and A-5 of the Graphic arts Industries under the HRA for
Virginia, being appointed in September, 1934.

in 1934, Mr, Sicherd P, Carter was appointed to the
gtaff of the Foundation, when Mr, Mapel resigned and iir,
hiegel took over the directorship. iir. Carter was a graduate
of vashington and Lee in 1929, and since that time had held
several newspaper positions, as well as being a lenguage
instructor at the Danville (Va.) Military institute. While
at Washington and Lee he was affiliated with the #sssociated
Press during the summer months, and was grented a leave of
absence in 1936-37 to work with that organization in Hew
York City. Returning to the school he was grnnted another
leave of absence 1in 1940-41 to recelve his 1.2, degree from
Colunbie University. He resigned his position on the staff
of the Foundation in 1941 to become an assistant city editor

of the idichmond (Va.) News-.eader, and is now associate edi-

tor of the Koanoke (Va.) Times and Vorld-lNews,.

During ¥r. Carter's leave of absence in 1936-37, lir,
Hobert P. Anderson held the position of instructor on the
Foundation's staff, Graduated from /‘mherst College in 1935,
he received his .5, degree from the Pulitizer Graduate
School of Journalism at Columbia University in 1936, Follow=
ing his year's work at Lhe University he returned to his
home, 'orcester, lassachusetts, taking a position as a publiec
relations representative.

Mr. Latham B, '“‘eber, another gréduate of ‘“ashington

and Lee was a menber of the staff in 1940-41, during kr, Care
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ter's second leave of asbsence., Graduating from the University
in 1937, a member of rhi Beta Sappa and former editor of the
sechool newspaper, he wes assistant to the publisher of the

“alamenca (N.Y.) Republican ‘'ress, before becoming a meuber

of the faculty. Following his year's teaching duties he again
returned to the Uslaumanca newspaper wcik.

ir., Hobert !, Hodges was appointed to fill the vacancy
left following the resigination of lr, Carter in 1941, and
at present lir., Hodges 18 scting director of the Foundation in
¥r., Riegel's absence. Hecelving his 4.8, degree in 1931 from
the University of Horth Caroline, he is & candidate for the
M.A. degree in 1942, Following his graduation he served as
a reporter and news editor of the High Point (N.C.) Enter-
prise rrom 1931-32, and was news editor from 1932-35, of
the Burlington (N.C.) Dally Times-News, holding the editor-

ship of the same paper from 1935-39. He was awarded a
flosenwald Founuatiion Fellowship in 1939 and a Hockefeller
Foundation Fellowship in 1940.

Although unknown to many, all of these men have con-
tributed to the Ffoundation's sdvancement, not only as teachers,
but, as has been pointed out, also in allied fields. Due to
their experience before appointment they are able to ofler
the journalism student many examples of what they mey face
when entering the newspeper world, thus cualifying these
men of the faculty not only as "teachers" but as ”xuides" for
those beginning their life work. Lspecially is this true be-
cause of the University's policy of limiting its enrollment,
thus meking the journalism clesses small enough so that each

Student may gain individual ettention. Such personel attention
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is of great aid in teaching those who shall be the future

public informers.,
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Chapter IV

Journalism Courses Given

Sinece 1925 the number end, veriety of the journalism
courses listed in the catalogue of washington and Lee have
steadily increased, keeping pace with changing newspaper
trends and the steady improvement in journaelism education.

Some of the early courses, for reasons which I have
been unable to learn, have been discontinued and others have
changed only in name or in their coversge of the subject.

In 1925 when the journslism school opened there were
geven courses listed as open to journalism students, two of
them being offered in alternate years, The first course whiech
the student would ordinarily teke would probably have been
vlews and leature Writing." This was an introductory course
desigzned to acquaint the student with news story style, as
well a8 feature style. “he second course, which would natural-
ly have followed, would have been "Newspaper Reporting end
Editing.” This course taught the students the methods of
gathering news and incorporating thelr knowledge of politiecel
sclence, economies, soclology, etc., into the story.

"Critical ‘“riting for the Press,” "Ldvertiaing Copy"
and "“esesrch Froblems" were also offered. These were sll one-
year courses, probably taken for the most part by seniors. The
"Research Problems” c¢luss required the writing of a thesis on
Some aspect of newspaper work asnd its reletion to other flelds.
There were no class meetings.

The two courses offered in slternating years were

"Editorial writing" end "History, Prineiples and Administration
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of Journalism.” All of the last five courses mentioned cover-
ed what thelr names implied, and to some extent all are still
being ol'fered.

It is interesting to note what the 1925 catalogue had
to say to the student contemplating e major in jJournalism:
tyork in Journslism at Washington snd lee is planned with
the conviection that study of the history, prineiples, and
practice 1n modern journalism possesses definite and exten-
sive cultural value. The newspeper 1s considered as & soclal
institution and the work of the journalists carefully examined
in its social and cultural aspects, Students contemplating
the study of Journelism are urged to take stock of themselves

and to determine whether they cere tremendously about resding,

writing and about soclal relstionships. No walk of life in
modern eivilization has not constantly and vitally to do with
the newspaper.,

"Journalism needs fewer hsck-writers and more scholars
who are practical idealists of energy, acumen and charscter,
Jhat-to-write must be stressed quite as deverminedly as how-
to-write-~it. Students sre strongly sdvised to adjust their
programs to thorough work in government, economies, sociology,
scientific method, psychology and literture. A reading know-
ledge of one foreign lenguage is to be recommended,”

What,in modern terms, could heve better expressed
General lee's recognition of the need for trained newspaper-
meny

A certificste was offered the Journalism student who
did better than average work in the required 24 hours of the

tourses of Jjournalisu and in releted flelds.
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In 1927 the course "History, Principles and Administra-
tion of Journalism” weas not listed; however, the "Editorisl
yriting" course was a regular‘one, listed as being given each
year. A new course listed at this time was "Small City laililes
and County Veeklies."” This was a study of the different methods
of writing and menaging of the smaller papers as compared
with the metropolitan dailies. The explanation the course
also stated that the students of the class would publish one
jssue of two county weeklies during the term.

i‘ore new courses were offered in 1928, They were:

"Copy “eading end liske-Up,™ "Dremstie Criticism,”"Short Story
triting,” "Lew of the Press" and "Introduction to Journalism,"”

The copy-reecding elrss was & short course in editing
and the copyreader's problems, In "Dramatiec Criticism” the
student was first taught dremetie techniosue, then how to
criticize it. The course differed from "Critical "riting rbr
the Press” in that the latter dealt with literary eritiecism,

No explenation is given of the ressons why short-story
writing might be offered to the Journalism student, except
that it was possibly meant to aid him in composition, by giv-
ing hin the opportunities to study the better writers of the
short story.

The "Law of the Press" cless was reculred of all students
desiring a certifiecate in journelism,., It was a thorough study
of the laws affecting journalists and suthors and was recomnend-
€d for all those who intended to write for publicetion,

The *Introduction to Journalism" course was a study of
the newspaper as a social institution and its funetions, It

"as also a reanuired course for those desiring a certificate,

P
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In the 1928 catalogue two certificates were offer-
ed the journalism major. One was a "departmental certificate”
for the completion of 27 hours study of journalism courses,
fhe other was an “"honor certificate in journalism® for those
with sbove-average grades for thelr college courses, and
24 hours in journalism study.

ihe 1930 catalogue listed proudly (and rightly so)
that Jjournalism at Washington and Lee was rated as Cless A
by the American ifssoelation ol Schools and Departments of
Journalism. The catelogue stated further the UniVBraity was
the only one south of Pennsylvania and east of Loulsiana
holding such membership.

in the catelogue a plan of study was prescribed for
the 4.5, degree and the certificate in journalism. in back-
ground ecourses the department required 84 hours and in the
Journalism courses 28 hours. There were threc different
"orofessional courses” listed for majors. The najors were
daily Jjournalism, eritical journalism and business Journalism,

Eaech of the three majors had certein reguired courses
which would prepare the student for his selected profession
in journalism, and the student was also allowed a degree of
latitude in selecting other courses. No student below Junior
stending wes allowed to take a jour<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>